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Legislative Council
The Council met at 10.30 a.m.

[MR PRESIDENT in the Chair]

The President: Moghrey mie, good morning, Hon. Members.
Members: Moghrey mie, Mr President.
5

The President: The Lord Bishop will lead us in prayer.

PRAYERS
The Lord Bishop

Order of the Day
1. Communications Bill 2020 –
Further consideration of Keys’ amendments
HM Attorney General to move.
The President: Hon. Members, we enter the final sitting in this legislative session. On the
Order Paper this morning, we begin with the Communications Bill, amended in the Keys, for
further consideration of the Keys’ amendments. I call on Her Majesty’s Attorney General.
10

15

20

25

The Attorney General: Thank you, Mr President.
Mr President and Hon. Members, the motion before you seeks to provide a workable
compromise between the Branches on the outstanding issues in relation to the Communications
Bill. I have been asked to say a few words on behalf of the Communications Commission in this
matter.
The Commission would like me to point out that since the Bill was last in Council, it
completed the promised consultation on its scope and structure within the timelines it had set
out. To summarise, the Commission looked at all of the various models and proposed that the
Commission be chaired by a person who is independent of both industry and politics, but still
retain a political Member on its board to ensure that there is the opportunity for public scrutiny
of the Commission’s work and to ensure that the public interest is retained during discussions on
decisions. The responses received were broadly supportive of this position. However, the
Council of Ministers has taken this a step further by removing that Member’s voting privileges,
to ensure that there can be no hint of political interference.
The compromise now proposed is that instead of the Minister for Home Affairs being the ex
officio Chair of the Commission, the Chair and all the other members, bar one, should be
apolitical. A Member of Tynwald would be a member of the Commission, albeit without a vote,
but with a voice at Commission meetings. That Member, it is envisaged, could move motions
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30

35

40

and answer questions in Tynwald in relation to the Commission’s work, but would otherwise
play a supportive role in relation to it. This change is made by the slight adjustment proposed to
the second outstanding amendment, whilst the first amendment on the Order Paper, dealing
with the provisions of the Act which commence upon the announcement of Royal Assent,
ensures that the requirement to make the change to the Communications Commission Order
cannot be circumvented by deferring the commencement of the clause requiring the change to
be made.
With the implementation of the Bill, the Commission will have the teeth to enforce licence
conditions by way of penalties and fines, allowing it to better protect the Manx consumer and
ensure competition in this vital sector of our economy. Government is currently making a
significant investment in ensuring all Manx people have access to high quality internet
connectivity. It is important to ensure that we have a strong, well-equipped regulator to help
ensure that this investment is protected and that it has the intended effect of ensuring
competition in our telecoms sector and that it continues to flourish to the benefit of all.
Mr President and Hon. Members, I commend this solution to Council and accordingly beg to
move the motion standing in my name.

45

The President: Mrs Lord-Brennan.

50

55

60

65

70

Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
Mr President, Hon. Members, I am happy to second this motion today. I recognise it as being
a compromise certainly based on a number of real concerns that had been examined in this
place and in the other place.
I welcome the position outlined by the Council of Ministers. There were some queries that I
put to the Minister for Home Affairs, particularly in relation to this role being in Tynwald, that I
would like to seek to clarify as they would have bearing in respect of the continued role of the
sponsoring Department.
So it was my concern that if there were to be a Tynwald Member on the Communications
Commission who would not have a vote but would still have a place at the table, and of course
having a place in Tynwald, I was concerned that it would not be political responsibility under any
other name. So in seeking to clarify that with the Minister, he has clarified with me that the role
of the sponsoring Department would still be in place, that it would be an opportunity for a
Member to answer questions should they wish, to move motions should they wish, but it would
not be something that they were compelled to do, that being the sponsoring Department role
and therefore the ministerial position would be still available to do that.
So to my mind it does settle the balance much more in favour in terms of, as the learned
Attorney has pointed out, scrutiny and interest in the work of the Communications Commission
and representing that public interest, rather than political representation of the
Communications Commission in Tynwald, which is much more along the lines that I would think
is appropriate, as we will continue, I believe, to strive towards greater regulatory separateness
overall.
So on that basis and the idea of a Tynwald Member simply being a sounding board, but not
determining direction and not having that overall appearance of political involvement, I am very
happy to second and I am grateful to everybody who has done everything they have to get it to
this stage.
Thank you, Mr President.

75

The President: Thank you. Mrs Poole-Wilson.

80

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to echo the comments just made by my hon. colleague, Mrs Lord-Brennan, and
also thank the Commission for being able to have sight of the consultation response which was
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published last week, which was very helpful to just understand who had responded and what
their view was about the possible options for the way forward for the Commission.
I am happy to support the proposed amendment.
Thank you, Mr President.
85

The President: Mrs Maska.

90

95

Mrs Maska: Thank you, Mr President.
Just to agree with my colleagues, I am very supportive of the amendments that we have
before us today. I think the importance of the Communications Bill coming into being is even
more important coming out of COVID, where everyone has seen how vital it is to have excellent
communications and these should be available to everyone across the Island. So to be able to
have the amendments before us today, I also support a Member of Tynwald being on the
Communications authority.
My experience in the past when I served on the Lottery Trust, which is different, but we also
had a Member of Tynwald on that trust who was able to actually counsel and act as a bridge
between the trustees and Tynwald, but not to majorly influence in any subjective way.
So I do welcome the amendments that we see before us today, Mr President, and I thank you
very much.

100

The President: Mrs Sharpe.

105

Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President.
I am very supportive of this solution. I think that it is a symbol of a strong democracy when
you can separate as much as possible your media and your government. So I am in complete
support.
Thank you.
The President: Thank you. Mr Attorney.

110

115

120

The Attorney General: Thank you, Mr President.
Very briefly, if I could thank the Hon. Members who have spoken in support of this motion,
and on behalf of the Commission thank Hon. Members as a body for their interest in dealing
with this legislation and agreeing to the compromise which has been reached. The Commission
is very grateful for the support which has been voiced.
On that basis, I beg to move.
The President: Hon. Members, I put to Council the motion set out on the Order Paper in the
name of Her Majesty’s Attorney General. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.

2. Sexual Offences and Obscene Publications Bill 2019 –
Consideration of clauses concluded
Miss August-Hanson to move.
The President: We turn to Item 2 now, the Sexual Offences and Obscene Publications Bill for
continuation of the clauses stage. We made good progress last week, and we resume our
consideration this morning. I believe we will start at clause 88, and therefore I call
Miss August-Hanson to move. Thank you.
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125

130

135

140

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I also thank Mr President for approving the schedule today and also in approving the very
common-sense method of having those clauses that were not being amended in the previous
sitting now to move to those that are being amended in this sitting, which I feel is a very
common-sense way forward.
Mr President, clause 88 was inserted in the Keys on the basis that it is wrong in principle for
people to presume that a person’s particular sexual orientation or gender identity is somehow
abnormal, and must therefore be changed by means of therapy. Subsection (2)(b) makes it clear
that prohibition does not include services that are for the purposes of assisting a person to
explore, develop or affirm that person’s sexual orientation or gender identity. The clause was
based in part on legislation in the US State of New Jersey, and a draft that had been prepared for
use in the UK Parliament. The Minister received a letter from an organisation opposed to the
clause in January 2020. The Department considered the letter but was of the view the clause is
about undue pressure being put on people to change who they are, in a manner that is
damaging to the welfare of that person. A person who wishes to seek counselling must be able
to do so freely and without any sense of obligation. There is an amendment to this clause in that
regard.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 88 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Thank you. Mr Mercer.

145

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
150

155

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Mr President, the amendment on our Order Paper to clause 88 simply
adds the word ‘freely’ so as to make it clear that it is acceptable to provide services for the
purposes of enabling a person to explore, develop or affirm freely their sexual orientation or
gender identity.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment to clause 88 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 88
1. Page 106, line 12, for ‘explore, develop and affirm’ substitute «explore, develop or affirm
freely».
The President: Mr Henderson.

160

165

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
I am happy to second this particular amendment because I had considerable input into its
formulation prior to it reaching Legislative Council. Although it is a tiny amendment, the effect is
quite wide-ranging and addresses concerns that were raised to all Hon. Members some
considerable time ago by such organisations as the International Federation for Therapeutic and
Counselling Choice and one or two other institutions and psychology associations with regard to
the possible negative impact of the wording. The amendment moved by Mrs Poole-Wilson puts
in the flexibility there which recognises individuals’ free rights should they so wish to access
counselling on this particular issue and their own personal gender choices.
So I am very happy to second, sir.
The President: The Lord Bishop.

170

The Lord Bishop: Thank you, Mr President.
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Merely to say that acknowledging the complexity around this particular area I am grateful for
this amendment which I think is very helpful indeed.
Thank you.
175

The President: Miss August-Hanson.

180

185

190

195

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to thank Mrs Poole-Wilson for moving the amendment, but particularly to
Mr Henderson for his input here, because he is quite right, this is very much about choice.
I would also like to thank the Lord Bishop as well for his input there.
Thank you, Mr President
The President: Hon. Members, I put first the amendment to clause 88. Those in favour, say
aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 88, then, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Now, I think we are on clause 111.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 111 sets out the offence of voyeurism, which is
committed by observing another person doing a private act for the purpose of sexual
gratification, whilst knowing the other person does not consent to that observation. In the Keys
subsection (2) was inserted to set out the offence of enabling voyeurism by operating
equipment to enable another person to engage in voyeurism. I beg to move that clause 111 do
stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

200

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Amendments, two of them, in the name of Mrs Lord-Brennan.

205

210

215

Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
I am proposing various amendments to Part 6 in connection with voyeurism and image-based
abuse. The amendments to clause 111 before us today are based on consideration of 2019
voyeurism provisions adopted in the UK, so they were brought in since this Bill was first drafted.
They add some new subsections and the amendments have received close attention to ensure
that they are appropriate in respect of operating equipment, activation and persons involved by
inserting the new subsections.
Hon. Members will note that a key part of the reason for ensuring the provisions are updated
and comprehensive is to ensure that our Bill includes appropriate provisions to account for
issues known as ‘upskirting’ and ‘downblousing’. Whilst I have not sought to copy exactly the UK
provisions, by including these amendments I feel our legislation will be up to date on this matter
and appropriate.
Mr President, I beg to move both amendments in my name to clause 111:
Amendments to clause 111
2. Page 123, line 10, after ‘enabling’ insert «A or».
3. Page 123, line 14, after subsection (2) insert —
«(3) A person (A) commits an offence if —
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(a) A operates equipment beneath the clothing of another person (B) with the intention of
enabling A or another person to observe, for the purpose of obtaining sexual gratification the
private parts of B; and
(b) A knows that B does not consent to A operating equipment with that intention.
(4) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (3), A is taken to be operating equipment if A
enables or secures its activation by B or any other person without B’s or that other person’s
consent.».
The President: Mrs Sharpe.

220

225

230

235

240

245

250

Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President, I beg to second.
I would just like to voice my support to the hon. mover of these amendments and express my
thanks to her for having engaged in research in order to bring to our attention this behaviour
known as upskirting, which has been a crime in the UK since 12th April 2019, as she mentioned.
This behaviour, and more recently the phenomenon of downblousing, have developed due to
advances in technology and the use of mobile phones with cameras. And it is quite right that we
classify this behaviour as a crime.
I just think it is very sad, Mr President, that as fast as we can write legislation new behaviours
which seek to subjugate, for the most part women, continue to emerge. I am in full support of
this amendment.
Thank you.
The President: Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to thank Mrs Lord-Brennan for her engagement with the Department on this
clause. Her thoughts on all parts of this Bill have been extraordinarily timely and very
constructive.
In relation to what Mrs Sharpe has had to say: quite right, absolutely. Some of these crimes
really are very much against women in the most part, although they do not exclude men, and
are quite disgraceful. It has been illuminating working on this piece of legislation as to how many
new things perhaps have come about in modern times.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Hon. Members, I put first the amendments numbered 2 and 3 to clause 111.
Those in favour of the amendments, please say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have
it.
Clause 111 as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have
it.
Clause 112. Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 112 provides further interpretation and I beg to move that it stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

255

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Lord-Brennan.
Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
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260

Just two small amendments to clause 112 and to substitute ‘doing’ for ‘engaged in’.
I beg to move:
Amendments to clause 112
4. Page 123, line 21, for ‘doing’ substitute «engaged in».
5. Page 123, line 27, for ‘doing’ substitute «engaged in».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

265

The President: Miss August-Hanson. Are you content?
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Perfectly content.
270

275

280

The President: Thank you.
I put the amendments numbered 4 and 5 to the clause. Those in favour, say aye; against, no.
The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 112, then, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clauses 113 to 119. Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I believe that both of these were moved by you but not voted on at the last sitting. We got as
far as clause 138. Mrs Lord-Brennan has amendments numbered 6 and 7 to clause 119. As these
have already been moved, I defer to you.
The President: Thank you.
In that case the amendments by Mrs Lord-Brennan.

285

290

295

Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
In respect of the amendments to clause 119 the first one, which is number 6, I feel is to clean
up some of the definitions and the linkage of ‘publish’ and ‘distribute’. There was a lot of
thought that went into this and I have based this change on the consideration of the definition
and interpretation in terms of ‘publish’ and ‘distribute’ across the Bill and in particular for this
Part. Whilst ‘publish’ is defined elsewhere and includes ‘distribute’ I feel it is appropriate to
specify ‘publish’ within the interpretation section for this section 111 to 119. So I have sought to
add that in with the amendment number 6.
Amendment number 7 seeks to include streaming and the reason for the inclusion of this is
that this has been the approach taken elsewhere in the Bill to specifically include streaming in
similar ways. So I have sought to do that there as well.
I beg to move:
Amendments to clause 119
6. Page 127, line 7, before ‘make available’ insert «publish or otherwise».
7. Page 127, line 8, after ‘other means’ insert «including streaming».
The President: Mr Henderson.
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Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.
300

The President: Mr Mercer.

305

Mr Mercer: I would like to thank my hon. colleague, Mrs Lord-Brennan, for bringing this
amendment. I think the amendment improves the clarity of this interpretation section and it
also reflects the use of the word ‘streaming’ elsewhere in the Bill.
So I support that amendment.
The President: Thank you. Miss August-Hanson.

310

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Very supportive of the amendments, particularly in relation to streaming. I was quite the
advocate and had a number of very lively discussions regarding streaming in the Department of
Home Affairs, as Member of the Department of Home Affairs previously in a pre-legislative
scrutiny capacity. So I appreciate these amendments and this being pointed out.

315

320

The President: Thank you.
I put first the amendments numbered 6 and 7 to clause 119. Those in favour, say aye; against,
no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clauses 113 to 119 as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 139.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 139 makes provision for the protection of the
identity of the complainant and I beg to move that clause 139 stand part of the Bill.

325

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
330

The President: I put clause 139. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 140.
335

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 140 makes provision for the identity of the person
against whom an allegation of an offence has been made to be kept from publication.
Subsection (2)(b) provides that the restriction on publication ceases in the event of a subsequent
conviction from the date of conviction.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 140 do stand part of the Bill.

340

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
345

The President: Mrs Sharpe.

350

Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to move an amendment and that is on page 141, lines 25 to 40, and page 142,
lines 1 to 8, so that clause 140 is omitted.
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355

360

365

370

375

380

385

390

I have been researching the subject of anonymity for defendants of alleged sexual offences
for some time now and I am grateful to Ms Perry and the rest of the library staff for their
assistance in collating material from other jurisdictions in order to give me a greater overview of
the subject. The rationale behind this amendment is to acknowledge that the Manx public has
not yet been asked whether or not they actually want anonymity automatically being extended
to alleged perpetrators of sexual offences.
The public consultation on this Bill asked whether the public would like to see anonymity
extended in these cases in certain circumstances, not whether anonymity for alleged
perpetrators of sexual offences should be automatically granted every time. So it is my belief
that if the laws concerning press freedom in the Isle of Man are to be changed, then public
consultation on the subject should take place first.
In seeking to move this amendment, Mr President, I am not saying that there is not a case for
extending anonymity to alleged perpetrators but that it is a complex subject which would
benefit from a separate look. For example, public awareness of the effects on the life of an
innocent person wrongly accused of a sexual crime has grown, but so too has public awareness
of the root causes behind a person carrying out a sexual crime. Very often people who abuse
others have themselves been abused in earlier life. True, they can be guilty of perpetrating a
crime but to a certain extent they can also be regarded as victims and in future might receive
more sympathy and understanding from the public. The fact of the matter is we do not yet know
what the public think of this extension of automatic anonymity as we have not asked them.
We do know from the consultation that some people on the Island believe anonymity should
be extended in certain circumstances. But what would these certain circumstances be? I think
we need to ask and think about this carefully. I think we also need to understand what role
social media is playing in feeding the rumour mill once an alleged perpetrator has been named
in public and separate out what effects that has, irrespective of what the official regulated
media is reporting.
The clause as it stands seeks to extend anonymity to alleged sexual offenders when
perpetrators of no other crime, no matter how severe, would have the same treatment. It
diverges from UK law so even if an alleged perpetrator were to be anonymous in the Island the
same would not be true for reporting in the UK and other jurisdictions. This was the case in New
Zealand recently where the identity of a murderer was absolutely known in New Zealand,
despite their anonymity laws, because of reporting elsewhere.
So it is complex and I would argue that we need more time and opportunity to tease out
these separate areas for analysis, Mr President. (Interjection) That is why I am suggesting we
omit this clause for the time being, not because I am dead against it necessarily, and I do
understand absolutely the sentiment behind it, but because it is complex, it relates to matters
which lie far beyond the scope of this Bill and currently there is no evidence that the public
actually wants it. It is my hope that by removing the clause the Department will perhaps have
time to consider consulting the public on the automatic extension of anonymity in these cases or
indeed perhaps consider a broader consultation on the subject of open justice and its
relationship to press freedom.
So, Mr President, I would like if I may to move the amendment to clause 140 in my name.
Thank you.
Omission of clause 140
8. Page 141, lines 25 to 40 and page 142, lines 1 to 8, omit clause 140.
Adjust clause numbers and cross references throughout.
The President: Mrs Lord-Brennan

395

Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
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400

405

410

I am happy to second the amendment from Mrs Sharpe and the reason I am happy to do
that, even though they are going for broadly taking out these provisions, is because I think that
we are unsure about this.
It is a significant matter involving open justice. There are a number of things that would
indicate that this is out of step; and also we are aware that it is actually a really significant
matter warranting further attention. So the further attention that I would like to provoke by
supporting Mrs Sharpe is that over the summer there could be more thought given to this
matter, that instead of us trying to resolve the intricacies and the complexities of when should
this apply, in what circumstances … Instead, I would like to see a settled policy come forward
from the Department and I think it would also be helpful to have something articulated that we
can point to and hang our hat on with this particular inclusion if it was to be put back in again,
which could be achieved in the other place. I think that over summer it would indeed provide an
opportunity for consultation.
So it is really in the spirit of provoking more thought on this particular area rather than
seeking to determine in this place exactly what should happen, that I would support the
amendment from Mrs Sharpe and invite and encourage others to consider supporting in that
spirit.
Thank you, Mr President.

415

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

420

425

430

435

440

445

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I have a great deal of sympathy actually for the concerns and the points that Mrs Sharpe has
raised at First Reading, and I think at Second Reading I raised my own questions about these
anonymity provisions and striking the appropriate balance between the principle of open justice
which must be the start point for our justice system and what is appropriate as regards
protecting, where appropriate, the identity of certain individuals. So I think there is a principle at
stake here.
I am also alive to the fact that in a small community like this, of course being named in the
press as someone facing trial on a number of charges I would agree it is not just charges around
sexual offences. I would say there are other charges that once you are named in the press could
be potentially very damaging for an individual and certainly could stay with that individual and
affect their reputation regardless of the outcome of the trial. So I am also very sympathetic to
that real concern and issue in a small community. But I agree that it could potentially extend
beyond the offences in this Bill, it could extend to other matters.
Then I think there are practical issues, as has already been outlined by Mrs Sharpe. I think the
real concern that has arisen in recent times is the impact of social media. As a trustee of
St Christopher’s Isle of Man I am sensitive to this when it comes to the situation of looked-after
young people who cannot be named for legal reasons; and yet when a report is made of their
involvement in a trial and they are not named, what rapidly follows on social media actually is
sufficient quite often for that young person to be identified, and for it to affect them again
regardless of the outcome of the trial.
So I think a real concern here is the use of social media and trial by the public through social
media in a way that enables people sometimes to be identified even when the full force of the
law says that they should not be identified. We have that live issue. That would be my concern
as well with these anonymity provisions that, notwithstanding stating this in the law, we will
have people still who will gossip and who will use social media and get around them. I suppose
the question really for the Department is: what appetite is there in practice to enforce these
provisions? Because the truth of it is, if people are going to post on social media notwithstanding
what is in this Bill, are we going to take action to address that?
I think the other practical issue is of course how are we going to enforce it when it is
reporting off Island? So if a media organisation outside the Isle of Man reports these matters
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450

455

460

465

470

475

480

485

490

495

and it could come to their attention through the medium of gossip or social media, again, how
are we going to enforce this? We can end up with the anomaly of large media organisations
elsewhere freely reporting on matters in the Isle of Man but our own press is unable to do so. So
I think there are real practicalities with this sort of provision.
It has been put to me that this is true also when it comes to the position of victims; and it is
true, but I think it is a more recognised principle, that the victim should not be named. But we
would have equal problems were a media organisation elsewhere to name a victim and not
adhere to these provisions. So I am very sympathetic to the amendment for all of those reasons.
Having said all of that, the amendment itself at this point removes full power to give
anonymity. My other concern is that some of the problems we have seen in other jurisdictions is
where people have been named even before the point of charge – and that, to my mind, is
serious. I think there is a critical point in any criminal prosecution where at the point of making a
charge the authorities, the Police and the criminal prosecutors should have arrived at a decision
where they feel there is sufficient evidence to press charges, and at that point proceeding with
the case is believed to be the correct route. It is very unfortunate where charges are pressed and
then subsequently dropped because it is found that there is not sufficient evidence to continue
the prosecution; and certainly that has been an issue before.
But I am concerned that somebody would be named without good reason before the point of
charge, particularly when we think about the consequences for that individual. So that is my
main misgiving actually with supporting this amendment, is it is removing all of the possibility of
providing anonymity.
What I would like to hear, I suppose, on behalf of the Department is its response to the real
practical concerns that I think exist with this particular clause in its current form. I would also
like to hear the points in response to the consultation that the public have not been given an
opportunity to fully articulate their view. As Mrs Sharpe rightly said, they said they supported
the idea of anonymity in some circumstances but that to my mind is not quite robust enough.
I would also like to hear what the Department’s commitment is to recognise these real issues
and to monitor the operation of the balance between the principle of open justice and how all of
this works in practice, and to consider actually what I think is the real nub of the problem which
is the use of social media – trial by public, and naming people even in the current circumstances
where the law says that should not be the case.
I would like to hear some reassurance that these points will be taken forward and looked into
seriously because I think otherwise we are at risk of creating legislation that really does not do
the job to address the matters that really should be addressed.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Mrs Sharpe.
Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President.
I just wanted to mention also that in the UK at the moment this whole subject of anonymity
in sexual offence cases is being discussed. I think that another good reason why it might be
useful to remove clause 140 for the time being is that in an ideal world the Isle of Man would
move in tandem with the UK; because, as Mrs Poole-Wilson pointed out, it is all very well having
anonymity here but, especially in a lot of sexual offence cases, there can be overlaps with other
jurisdictions and the person could very well be named in the UK, so we would be out of step
with them anyway. It would make sense to perhaps wait and see what happens in the UK and
how they adjust their laws, and then perhaps move accordingly.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Miss August-Hanson.

500

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
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I think this is a key area of settled policy in the Department and I would like to request,
Mr President, from yourself that the Policy and Legislation Manager, Mr Bateman, might be able
to put the Department’s case in the policy formation and the decision that has been made here,
if he would?
505

The President: Indeed.
Mr Bateman, we will bring you the microphone, and if you could begin by stating your name
and position please for the record.
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Mr Bateman: Mr President, I am Tom Bateman, Legislation and Policy Manager, Department
of Home Affairs.
I will not speak at too great a length, I trust, but I have looked at this matter. It is my duty, of
course, to urge Hon. Members on behalf of the Minister of the Department of Home Affairs to
oppose this and the related amendments by Mrs Sharpe on the grounds that this is a key area of
settled Department policy. I can say, having been, that it is one of those Department meetings
where the policy was formulated where the issues were thrown across and debated fully by the
Minister, Members and relevant officers. It is the Department’s conviction that, in the light of
the proximity relationships shall we say within the Island, that there should be an opportunity
for a fair trial to take place without the name of the alleged offender, or the victim, or indeed
suspect or other witnesses, being bandied about in open forum.
The Department did consider all the pros and cons including those surrounding ‘open’ justice
versus the proposals in the Bill. The Department is very well aware of debate that has raged in
other jurisdictions. We are aware, for example, of arguments that the Bar Council has put
forward: there is one noting the experience of those who have been accused but not charged, or
those charged and subsequently acquitted who have been exposed to the glare of media
publicity without any hope of having their subsequent acquittal given the same degree of
publicity.
I could go through the history, but perhaps to address the issues raised in particular about
social media from Mrs Poole-Wilson, we do acknowledge that social media is a reality on the
Island. However, the prohibition on publishing includes publishing on social media. I know that
the courts, because they asked us to increase the penalty for breaching a court order in relation
to anonymity in relation to victims … I believe it would be matter that the courts would take
seriously for their part.
The enforcement of these provisions is of course a matter for the Constabulary, for the
Attorney General’s Chambers’ Prosecutions Division and ultimately for the courts, rather than
the Department. Naturally the Department would be keeping an opening brief on how the
anonymity provisions worked in practice. But what we would urge, Hon. Members, and what
was in the mind of the Minister, Minister Malarkey and as reaffirmed by the current Minister are
examples in the UK of Sir Cliff Richard and Paul Gambaccini and others who were named and
shamed in the media long before any evidence came forward that was sufficient to charge. Or
indeed they were not charged. And there was the former Deputy Speaker of the UK Parliament.
It is acknowledged that the UK made provision for anonymity for accused … for those
charged, then withdrew – and the argument rages again that it should be reintroduced. Our
view really is that this is a matter upon which, to address Mrs Sharpe’s point, the Island perhaps
should be leading rather than waiting for the UK to make its own decisions; because, as we
know, the UK has got other priorities and it could be a long time coming. This is an opportunity
for us to make our own decisions and make them now. The provisions that we have relating to
anonymity do enable the identity of the suspect or the accused to be revealed by the courts for
good reason, and we will be monitoring how that progresses in terms of the Constabulary’s
applications and the prosecution applications.
The Department does acknowledge it is a complex subject. That is why I have spent some
time explaining the level of debate within the Department, the quality of the debate and the
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consideration that the Department has given. We are well aware that this issue is perhaps
controversial; it is bold. But it is very much the concern of the Department that open justice is
important but also the interests of justice, the public interest that justice is done fairly and the
principles of innocent until proven guilty by due process are upheld.
I could speak at length. There is a detailed argument here from the Law Society, the Bar
Council of the UK. The provisions that relate to anonymity which develop existing provision and
extend to accused persons do provide the courts with the all-important power to consider the
interests of justice overall; and if that means that the identity of the accused or the suspect is
released then so be it. But equally the interests of justice may require, and the Department
believes should be provided for, that the identity of all the parties remains a matter out of public
view until such time as either a case is determined and the person is found guilty, or remains
anonymous indefinitely.
I trust I have addressed many of the issues. I do believe on behalf of the Department that it is
a matter for the Council, but I invite the Council to determine the matter today and urge the
Council to reject Mrs Sharpe’s amendments, Mr President.
The President: Thank you, Mr Bateman.
Miss August-Hanson, do you wish to follow on before I invite other Members to comment?
Miss August-Hanson: I would, Mr President.
I would like to ask your permission again, I do apologise, but to speak to Mrs Poole Wilson’s
concern in relation to any charges that perhaps might have been pressed and subsequently
dropped by Prosecutions due to any lack of substantive evidence that may have been widely
reported over the course of the past year when they came to light, and following some level of
criticism in the press. I have asked Mr Attorney General if he would be willing to speak and he
has indicated that he may, but with your permission, sir.
The President: Yes. Mr Attorney.
The Attorney General: Yes, Mr President, I am happy to address this issue.
Hon. Members, Mr President, we do not live in a perfect world. So clearly in relation to any
matter which is referred to the prosecution lawyers for a decision as to whether to prosecute
following a police investigation, a judgement call has got to be made. There is a procedure and
policy in Chambers with reference to sexual offences cases as to the nature and extent of the
evidence that the prosecutors have got to consider. The same applies for the Police and so we
have agreed a very strict and detailed policy with them as to their evidence gathering and what
would be needed, if you take it this way, of achieving a successful prosecution which is a test
which the prosecuting lawyers have got to undertake.
But we do not live in a perfect world. We cannot, when we set out for a trial, be certain that
the evidence is going to come up to the mark. Some witnesses, for example, refuse to turn up
and so we will have a situation, especially in this type of case, where too often the trial will
crack, the case will collapse. So there is the attendant publicity for the accused who has not
faced a trial and unfortunately he has had the publicity which is attached to the fact that he
stands before the court that day; or alternatively he has been charged and it is in the public
domain.
So all I can say from the point of view of Chambers is that we clearly take this very seriously.
We are ensuring that our prosecution lawyers are armed and are given the training that they are
required to enable them to assess these cases appropriately, and in turn we are providing
training to the Police as well so that we can help them undertake their function.
But I emphasise, we do not live in a perfect world and that is our open justice. Someone will
stand trial and then they are innocent until proven guilty. So that, I hope, is of some assistance
to you.

________________________________________________________________________
513 C137

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL, TUESDAY, 30th JUNE 2020
605

The President: Thank you, Mr Attorney.
Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr Attorney. I appreciate your input there.
All I wanted to do was to just provide an opportunity for Mr Attorney General. So thank you.
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The President: Thank you. Mrs Lord-Brennan.
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Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
I have three questions for Mr Bateman, if I may; and, if I can, I would like to take them
individually. I think they would probably be best answered briefly.
The President: Yes, by all means.

620

Mrs Lord-Brennan: Before I come to the first one, I would just like say I have not made my
mind up over this and that is partly why I feel like it needs more examination, because I do not
know, so I am kind of looking to be convinced. The other observation I would say is that this is
the issue with clause 140, because it has got the anonymity of suspects and defendants. So I
think that is the point …
Mr Bateman, if I may: the Department’s current policy on this, who does it favour?

625

Mr Bateman: I must ask if I may, Mr President, can you develop on that question? You say
who does it favour?

630

Mrs Lord-Brennan: In terms of the anonymity provisions that are required that you are
requesting to be put in place, who do you think it is favouring?
Mr Bateman: The objective that the Department had in mind is that it favours neither the
accused, nor the complainant, nor witnesses. It is blind. The provisions relating to anonymity are
not there to favour one party or the other, but to afford anonymity across the board.
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Mrs Lord-Brennan: Okay, thank you. (The President: Thank you.)
Secondly, what about those cases where a defendant is named and actually more victims
come forward, or more evidence comes forward? Is there any comment on that?
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Mr Bateman: There is provision, as you know, within these clauses for the Police on the
submission of a superintendent or senior officer to the courts to ask that the identity of the
suspect be released, with the objective either of protecting the public if someone is on the
loose, but there is not enough evidence to arrest that person though there is a need for public
protection. Or the other grounds may be that, as you suggest, their case is one of similar fact
and the Police believe that there are others whom the suspect, the person they are
investigating, may have affected. If that is the case, and the court hears that case, they would be
willing to release the identity of the suspect so that those other victims may come forward.
Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you.
I think that is part of it, that sometimes it may not be known whether there are other victims
but I appreciate you pointing out the ability for there to be what I would describe as some
discretion, if it were to be anticipated.
Then the final question is: when was this last discussed in the Department? You have referred
to the previous Minister. I am just wondering if this policy is still 100% up to date or if perhaps
what we are dealing with in front of us is a policy that was settled some time ago. When was it
last approved at the Department?
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Mr Bateman: I cannot give you the exact date at the Department but upon the succession of
the Hon. Minister Cregeen, he was briefed on this issue and, as you would expect and clearly do,
he was asked what his views were on this matter as it was going into the Legislative Council.
I discussed the matter again with him this morning and made him aware of the briefing paper. In
other words, I have kept the Minister fully informed and my Chief Executive and senior officers,
which is why I am able with confidence to say this is the policy of the previous Minister
reaffirmed by the current Minister.
Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you very much, Mr Bateman.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Thank you, Mr Bateman.
Mrs Poole-Wilson.
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Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President; and, yes, thank you to Mr Bateman for his full
explanation.
I have just got a couple of more questions, if I may? My understanding of the provisions in
the Bill as they stand is that the press and members of the public will still be able to attend the
court. So the anonymity provisions do not prevent attendance by members of the press or the
public at a trial. What they do prevent is people going out of the room and then reporting the
names of the individuals. So I would just be grateful if Mr Bateman was able to confirm that.
Mr Bateman: For my part, that is my understanding. Mr Attorney may be able to –
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The Attorney General: Yes, that is the case, Mr President.
The President: Thank you.
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Mrs Poole-Wilson: So I suppose the second point then is, Mr Bateman has indicated that it is
the Department’s intention to monitor the operation of these provisions in practice. I suppose it
would be helpful to understand whether that monitoring process in terms of gathering data
hopefully about breaches … I think it is social media that is the big risk here, if people do attend
trials and then matters do surface on social media, whether these individual breaches will be
tracked and whether any action is taken or not will also be tracked. I wonder whether he can
confirm whether there will be tracking of any off-Island reporting and whether that tracking will
be published, so that we can understand whether or not these provisions are effective and
enforceable in practice?
Mr Bateman: May I just perhaps address, importantly, the issue of the public being present?
It is indeed a fine balance between open justice, access to justice and anonymity.
In terms of monitoring, we would anticipate … As you know, the Police would keep us aware
of how they see anonymity working both for them as law enforcers and becoming aware, as
they do, through their Public Protection Unit of the impact of social media and people’s
activities. We would anticipate through appropriate channels the courts raising any concerns
that they may have if it appears that the issue of anonymity has been honoured more in the
breach than in truth.
In terms of Department officers, there is myself and a colleague. We will not be doing the
monitoring ourselves but what we will be doing, or the Department would be doing, is hearing
from those such as the courts or the Police who have first-hand knowledge of matters.
Mrs Poole-Wilson: Okay. Thank you.
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It is my hope that when we do get ministerial responsibility for justice this would be a key
area that could be looked at as a policy matter from that perspective.
My final point was actually to thank the learned Attorney for his points on the prosecution
process. I have had the benefit of some very helpful discussions with the Director of
Prosecutions around the further development of policies and protocols, and the real issues that
do come into play with anonymity and particularly the point Mrs Lord-Brennan has raised about
encouraging further victims to come forward. It is my understanding that in developing further
protocols and policies in prosecutions part of that is to be very sensitive to the particular
circumstances of cases. For example, with child abuse it is recognised that the perpetrator will
often choose the most vulnerable and isolated children as victims; and it becomes even more
important then to publish the fact that a case is being brought and the name of the suspect in
order that those most vulnerable and isolated individuals do feel able to come forward and be
heard, not only to assist the prosecution but I think very importantly so that they get recognition
for their damage and consequence for them.
I personally have been reassured that there is work ongoing to really fully develop detailed
protocols in this area to ensure that where it is important and appropriate for all manner of
reasons that anonymity is lifted in order that justice is served.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Thank you. Mrs Lord-Brennan.
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Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
Just a short question, and I do not mind if it is the mover or the legislative officer that
answers. Would it still be the case that these matters that suspects and defendants, coverage
for that, could still happen from the UK or other media outlets elsewhere?
The other thing is: where would that leave the local media? Would that mean – could they
hypothetically report on something that had been reported elsewhere? Secondly, is it the point
that actually because we are living in a place of international media, really, that reporting from
off Island would still potentially reach Manx people by way of social media; and how does that
all work?
The President: Thank you. Miss August-Hanson.

740

745

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I think that in the UK obviously there is no regulating of that from here; we do not deal with
those matters, we deal with our domestic matters. On Island it would be very much the case
that they would not be able to report unless told by the court otherwise that they may do so in
those circumstances. But I do not know if Mr Bateman perhaps would like to elaborate, with
your leave, Mr President?
The President: If you wish him to, certainly.
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Mr Bateman: As Miss August-Hanson has pointed out, what the UK media report from their
jurisdiction we cannot and would not presume to control. One would note that they would
probably only be interested in the most extraordinary cases.
In terms of local media it is the case that the law of the land here would be restricting their
ability to report. But one comes back to the matter that we are an independent legislature and
jurisdiction. We must determine within our span of control what is best for our people and our
community within the limitations of a global world.
The President: Thank you. Mrs Maska.
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Mrs Maska: Thank you, Mr President.
Just a question for clarity to Mr Bateman, please? If I am understanding correctly clause 144,
which we have not reached yet, the power to displace section 140 and the previous clause 143 –
does that not in fact actually give the ability to lift the anonymity if it is in the public interest and
for good reason? So there is a provision to ensure that that can be allowed for if it can be
established that there is good reason to lift that anonymity?
If I am understanding it correctly, I would also like to thank Mr Attorney for explaining the
climate in his Chambers whereby in this imperfect world the aim is to achieve a climate for a fair
trial for both the victim and the accused as they might be. So it is just some thanks to
Mr Attorney, but just some clarity from Mr Bateman, if I may?
Thank you.
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The President: Mr Bateman.
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Mr Bateman: Mr President, the clauses are crafted so there is a provision, as identified, for
the Police to seek the lifting of the suspect’s anonymity when a case gets to court charged –
there is provision for the prosecution at any stage to ask that the identity of the person charged
be released.
There is equally provision for the courts of its motion, or indeed the accused person may wish
to request that his identity or her identity be released. Why would the accused do that? Well,
they may believe that by doing so witnesses will come forward who will attest to their
innocence. So we come back to this balance of interests throughout. But there may be cases,
curiously enough, where the accused person wishes their identity to be made known.
The President: Mr Attorney.
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The Attorney General: I just like to emphasise that point, certainly from a prosecution point
of view. You could certainly imagine if you take the point that it is in the public domain, it is in
the UK press, that from a prosecution point of view that could be justification for applying to the
court to lift the restriction in the interest of justice. So I agree with what Mr Bateman said, there
is very little that we can do to stop publication in the UK by the UK press. But if it does become a
matter in the public domain then that is certainly a basis on which we could apply to have the
restriction lifted; and you can see the justification, Hon. Members.
Mrs Maska: I am obliged, Mr President. Thank you.

795

800

805

The President: Thank you.
Mrs Sharpe.
Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President. I have a few questions to ask Mr Bateman, with your
permission.
Mr Bateman, thank you very much for your detailed explanation there. I have just got a few
questions. The first one was touched on by Mrs Lord-Brennan and you mentioned that this
clause at the moment, 140, is based on settled Department policy, and Mrs Lord-Brennan did
ask when was this policy put together. I am just wondering if you could be a bit more specific
about when this policy was decided on. In what document might we be able to find this policy
which seeks to extend anonymity to defendants in these cases?
Mr Bateman: Whilst I could not give you chapter, and verse, and dates, I did say the
document is a Department minute, a Department paper. That is and remains confidential, as the
Members of Departments will appreciate.
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This matter was debated well over a year ago. In fact it would be probably nearly two years
ago under the late Minister Malarkey’s time when the Bill was being prepared at drafting stage,
and the Department debated the matter at its formal meeting. So my instructions were to ask
the drafters to prepare the Bill with those provisions in it, which went out to public consultation
ending in February 2019. The Bill was duly finalised and introduced into the other place more or
less exactly 12 months – in fact it would be 12 months today, almost to the very date.
Mrs Sharpe: Okay, thank you.
I understand that clause 140 was the last clause to be introduced into this Bill.
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Mr Bateman: Strange as it may seem, I regret to say I cannot recall which was the very last
clause to be inserted into the Bill. Drafting is a dynamic process and I had many other Bills also in
dynamic, so I cannot answer whether it was the very last. I do not think it was; I think the
pardons and disregards themselves were of significant policy and drafting input.
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Mrs Sharpe: Okay, thank you.
It is just that when the Bill was first being looked at, I was asked by members of this
Department to look specifically at this clause because they themselves said they were not sure
that this clause should be in this Bill – that this Bill was not appropriate at all for this clause to
appear in.
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Mr Bateman: I cannot speak to what our Department’s views were. Naturally, people will
have different views on this. This is one of those provisions where genuinely the Department
took a view. I am aware that there are views this way and that way, and most …
It is a matter of genuine debate. It may be the case that officers in other Departments had
other views. It may be the case that politicians in other Departments had other views. I would
not know as an officer, and I cannot comment.
Mrs Sharpe: Thank you.
Can I ask you: when did the Department ask the public if they wanted automatic anonymity
granting to suspects or defendants for these cases?
Mr Bateman: I would refer to the public consultation that was issued and the questions that
were asked in that consultation.
It is our belief that the consultation was clear in its purpose and that the debate engendered
was interesting and worthwhile. I read the consultation responses. Of course, not everyone was
in favour of the policy of the Department, there are different views –
Mrs Sharpe: Can I just stop you there? Thank you.
But the question, as we know, in the consultation was not: ‘Do you agree that automatic
anonymity should be extended in these cases?’
The question was: ‘Would you be in agreement if, in certain circumstances, anonymity was to
be granted?’ That is completely a different question.
Mr Bateman: The consultation as drafted has been undertaken. The Department took the
view that it has. I do not believe, Mr President, I can comment further.
Mrs Sharpe: And when were the prosecutors asked for their opinion because, from my
understanding, the prosecutors were never asked for their opinion on this clause … ?
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The President: Mr Attorney.
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The Attorney General: Mr President, I have got to jump in, if I may. It is not for the
prosecutors to express a view on policy. I think I have really got to emphasise that. We have and
they have – and I think my friend, Mrs Poole-Wilson, has spoken to the Director of Prosecutions
with reference to matters in relation to this Bill. I am sure the Director of Prosecutions would
have expressed a very open view of the matters that she was asked to consider. But we would
certainly not have taken a step back and said that we believe as a matter of policy that this
clause ought to be introduced. That is a matter for the Department.
I think, if I can help the mover a little bit, the Department’s position was clearly set out to the
House of Keys in their debate on 3rd December where the issue of anonymity was considered –
and I think Mr Bateman might correct me, there may well have been an amendment before the
Keys of a similar nature to what is being suggested today, and that was defeated in the Keys. So
on 3rd December 2019 the Department clearly made known its policy decision even at that late
stage with reference to this matter; and, with respect to Mrs Sharpe, I do not really think it
matters when they formed that decision, but as late as 3rd December, the Bill on its way to us,
the policy made by the Department was clearly explained to the Keys.
Of course that does not hamper your consideration of the matter. But I think, just really to
draw a line, that is when the Department clearly stated for the record and it was voted on by the
Keys on this issue.
So I hope that is helpful.
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The President: Thank you, Mr Attorney.
Now, have you concluded your questions?
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Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President. I will just have a quick check. Thank you, Mr Attorney
General for that explanation.
The President: Okay. Mr Mercer.
Mrs Sharpe: Thank you, Mr President.
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Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to thank my hon. colleague, Mrs Maska, for raising the point about clause 144
which is an important counterbalance I think to clause 140.
I too shared the concerns regarding automatic anonymity and I see that in clause 144 also the
point is raised by my hon. colleague, Mrs Poole-Wilson, and I think that forms part of the
considerations as to whether anonymity is lifted or maintained.
That is all I have to say, really.
The President: Thank you.
I will ask Miss August-Hanson to reply to the debate on this clause, please.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to thank Mr Bateman for giving answers as best he can to Members at this stage.
As we know Mr Bateman is most certainly not on trial here for this one, so I do appreciate his
having co-operated and answered Members’ questions as fully as he is able to answer those
questions, and very well. So thank you, Mr Bateman.
I would like to just move the clause if I can, Mr President.
The President: Thank you. And thank you, Mr Bateman, for your evidence which has been
most helpful to this consideration.
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We deal with clause 140 and first I put the amendment number 8 in the name of Mrs Sharpe.
Those in favour of the amendment, please say aye; against, no. The noes have it. The noes have
it.
I put clause 140. Those in favour say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Thank you.
Clauses 141 to 143. Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 141 is intended to empower the prosecution or
the defence to restrict the publication of details of any witness on the grounds, for example, of
the age or maturity of the witness; the physical, intellectual, psychological or psychiatric
impairment of the witness; trauma; or fear of intimidation. The safeguard is that the court must
have regard to the need to ensure a fair trial, the views of the witness, and the need to promote
the recovery of the complainant from the alleged offence, plus any other factor that is relevant
to justice in the case.
Clause 142 specifies the offences to which this Part applies in relation to anonymity. The
provisions include the offences in Part 2 of the Bill, and these include all those one would expect
such as rape, sexual assault, offences against children, offences against those with impairment,
image-based abuse, and so on.
Clause 143 empowers a person charged with an offence, and before trial, to apply to a court
for a direction to set aside the anonymity of victims or witnesses. The purpose must be to induce
persons who are likely to be needed as witnesses at the trial to come forward. The court must
be satisfied the conduct of the applicant’s defence is likely to be substantially prejudiced if it
does not give such a direction. Further power is given to the judge at a trial to lift restrictions to
the extent necessary, if the court is satisfied a substantial and unreasonable restriction has been
placed upon the reporting of proceedings at the trial in question, and it is in the public interest
to remove or relax the restriction.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 141 to 143 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
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Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
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The President: I put to Council, clauses 141 to 143. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The
ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 144.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 144 makes provision for the naming of a suspect
where it is necessary for the protection of the victim or any other person; or is otherwise
necessary in the public interest. In such a situation an officer of the rank of superintendent, or
above, may apply to a judge of the High Court for a direction that the anonymity provisions of
clause 140 do not apply in that particular case. This provision was amended in the Keys as it was
felt that a person determining whether the identity of the suspect should be released ought to
be someone like the High Bailiff, the Deputy High Bailiff or a Deemster rather than, in these
kinds of cases, a Justice of the Peace. Similarly, a constable or the prosecution may apply under
this clause either before the commencement of a trial or during a trial, for the lifting of
restrictions on the publication of the identity of the person accused of an offence.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 144 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
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I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
965

970

975

The President: Now, the amendment in the name of Mrs Sharpe is consequential on the
success of the amendment to clause 140. Therefore, I shall not call Mrs Sharpe to speak on the
amendment.
Does anyone else wish to speak?
In that case I put clause 144. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 145.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 145 sets out the offence of publishing anything in
breach of sections 139, 140 or 141 as this inherently breaks anonymity.
I formally beg to move that clause 145 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

980

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: The same applies to the amendments as the previous clause.
Mrs Poole-Wilson.

985

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Mr President, I do have an amendment to clause 145.
The President: You do indeed, I beg your pardon.
Mrs Poole-Wilson.

990

995

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
The amendment standing in my name, numbered 13 on our Order Paper is an amendment to
omit lines 16 and 17 on page 147 as it contains a reference to the original clause 145 which was
about disclosure in relation to victims and witnesses of crime and was omitted at the clauses
stage in the House of Keys. Consequently, the reference to the section being in addition to
section 145 no longer applies and indeed it should have been omitted when that clause was
omitted in the Keys.
It is a tidying-up amendment, Mr President, and I beg to move the amendment numbered 13
standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 145
13. Page 147, lines 16 and 17, omit the words beginning ‘This section’ and ending
‘disclosure).’.
The President: Mr Henderson.

1000

Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

1005

The President: Thank you.
I put the amendment in the name of Mrs Poole-Wilson. Those in favour, say aye; against, no.
The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 145, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 146.
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Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 146 provides interpretation of terms used in
clauses 139 to 144 such as ‘complainant’, ‘picture’, ‘publication’, ‘relevant programme’.
I beg to move the clause 146 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1015

1020

1025

1030

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clause 146. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clauses 147 to 150.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clauses 147 to 150 form Part 9 of the Bill, and prohibit
questions or evidence being adduced about a complainant’s sexual history, except on written
application to the court. Where it is in the interests of justice, appropriate restrictions are placed
on what may be adduced in evidence. This Part also interprets the terms used around sexual
history and the meaning of types of offences mentioned.
Clause 150 sets out the procedures for applications to the court, under clause 147.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 147 to 150 inclusive stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1035

1040

1045

1050

The President: I put clauses 147 to 150 inclusive. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The
ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clauses 151 to 156, inclusive, and Schedule 3.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
These clauses deal with notification requirements in relation to persons convicted of sexual
offences. Clause 151 introduces the notification requirements and states that a person becomes
subject to those requirements if they are cautioned or found guilty of an offence listed in
Schedule 3.
Clause 152 makes transitional arrangements for those currently subject to notification
requirements under the sexual offences and notification legislation currently in force.
Clause 153 is about the notification periods relevant to any penalty of period of custody.
Clause 154 details the initial notification requirements.
Clause 155 deals with change of address or changes in circumstances.
Clause 156 requires periodic notification.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 151 to 156, inclusive, and Schedule 3 stand part of
the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1055

1060

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clauses 151 to 156 and Schedule 3. Those in favour, say aye; against, no.
The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 157.
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Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, this clause requires notification of any absence from a
notified residence to last more than three days.
I formally move that clause 157 stand part of the Bill.
1065

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1070

1075

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
Amendment number 14 in my name is a small and self-explanatory point to include the
words ‘or her’ after ‘within 3 days’.
I beg to move the amendment standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 157
14. Page 160, line 17, after ‘his’ insert «or her».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

1080

The President: I put first the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have
it. The ayes have it.
Clause 157, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 158.

1085

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 158 requires a person to notify the Constabulary
of any intention to travel off Island.
I would like to move that it stand part of the Bill.
1090

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1095

1100

The President: I put clause 158. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 159.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 159 deals with the method of notification and
related matters.
I beg formally to move it as part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1105

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
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1115

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
The amendment to this clause in my name substitute sections 1 to 4 with new subsections
1 to 4 that replicate the method of notification set out in clause 30 of the Domestic Abuse Bill.
The reason for this is that clause 30 of that Bill was amended in another place to provide for
regulations to be made by the Department, setting out the method of notification which must
include notification by electronic means. The effect of this amendment will be to ensure the
same method of notification is employed when notifying following conviction of a sexual offence
as applies for domestic abuse situations. The law will set out the same procedure in each Bill for
the same requirement.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment numbered 15 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 159
15. Page 161, lines 13 to 29 for subsections (1) to (3) substitute —
«(1) A person gives a notification under section 154(1), 155(1), 156(1) or 157(2) to (6) by
giving a notification to such person and in such manner as the Department may prescribe by
regulations.
The regulations must prescribe, in addition to other means, a means of electronic
communication (within the meaning of the Electronic Transactions Act 2000).
Tynwald procedure — approval required.
(2) A notification given in accordance with this section must be acknowledged—
(a) in writing, and
(b) in such form as the Department may direct.
(3) When a person (‘P’) gives a notification under section 154(1), 155(1), 156(1) or 157(2) to
(6), P must, if requested to do so by the person to whom notification is given, attend at a
police station specified by that person and allow that person to do any of the following
things —
(a) take P’s fingerprints;
(b) photograph, or otherwise produce an image of, P or any part of P.
(4) The power in subsection (3) is exercisable for the purpose of verifying P’s identity.».
The President: Mr Henderson.

1120

Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

1125

1130

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no.
Clause 159, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 160.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, this clause provides that certain notification
requirements applying to young offenders may be applied to those bearing parental
responsibility for that young offender.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 160 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1135

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
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The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

1140

1145

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
Given the amendment we have just approved to clause 159 regarding the method of
notification, an amendment is now necessary to this clause which provides for the process of
notification for a young offender and will allow for the fact that electronic notification will also
be possible for a young offender; and where, under section 159(3), a young offender has to
attend a police station for specific purposes, then they should be accompanied by a parent.
So, Mr President, I beg to move the amendment numbered 16 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 160
16. Page 163, line 6, for subsection (2)(b) substitute —
«(b) if a young offender is required to attend at a police station under section 159(3), the
parent must ensure that the young offender attends at the police station and the parent must
attend at the police station with the young offender.».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
I beg to second, sir.

1150

1155

The President: I put to the Council amendment number 16 to the clause. Those in favour, say
aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 160, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 161.

1160

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 161 makes provision for the variation, renewal or
discharge of a direction in relation to a notification requirement affecting a person having
parental responsibility for that young offender.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 161 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1165

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clause 161. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 162.

1170

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, this clause sets out the offences and penalties in relation
to the notification requirements under this Part.
I beg to move that it stand part of the Bill.
1175

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1180

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

________________________________________________________________________
525 C137

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL, TUESDAY, 30th JUNE 2020

1185

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President. If I might please move amendments numbered
17 and 18 together as they relate to the same clause.
These amendments to sub-clauses 162(1) and (2) are to pick up all the cross referencing to
other clauses that set out the various notification requirements.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendments numbered 17 and 18 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 162
17. Page 164, line 16, for ‘154(1), 155(1), 155(4)(b), 156(1), 159(3) or 160(2)(b) or any
requirement imposed by regulations made under section 158(1)’ substitute «154(1), 155(1),
155(4)(b), 156(1), 157(2), (5) or (6), 159(3) or 160(2)(b) or any requirement imposed by
regulations made under section 158(1) or 159(1) or (3)».
18. Page 164, line 20 for ‘154(1), 155(1) or 156(1) or a requirement imposed by regulations
made under section 158(1)’ substitute «154(1), 155(1), 156(1) or 157(2), (5) or (6) or a
requirement imposed by regulations made under section 158(1) or 159(1) or (3)».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane. I beg to second, sir.

1190

The President: I put first the amendments numbered 17 and 18 to the clause. Those in
favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 162, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 163 to 169 and Schedule 4.

1195

1200

1205

1210

1215

1220

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 163 establishes provision for the review by the
Chief Constable of indefinite notification requirements. This and subsequent clauses in this
matter are required so as to comply with human rights obligations.
Clause 164 sets out the procedure for applying for a review of an indefinite notification
requirement, and specifies that if a person was aged 18 years or over when the indefinite
notification requirement became applicable, then they must wait a minimum of 15 years before
seeking a review. If under the age of 18 when the requirement became applicable, then the
person must wait a minimum of eight years. A number of other requirements in this matter are
set out in this and subsequent clauses.
Clause 165 sets out the procedure the Chief Constable must follow in determining an
application by a person for a review of his or her indefinite notification requirements.
Clause 166 sets out a significant number of factors the Chief Constable must take into
account when considering whether or not the person should remain subject to the notification
requirements, and refers to Schedule 4 through subsection (2)(k), which deals with other
offences for the purposes of the notification requirements. This clause was amended in the Keys
by the addition of (m) to subsection (2). This inserts another two matters the Chief Constable
must take into account when considering whether or not the person should remain subject to
notification requirements. Namely, any positive changes in the offender’s lifestyle and any
relevant treatment programmes the offender has undertaken.
Clause 167 is about appeals in relation to notification matters.
Clause 168 enables the Department to issue guidance.
Clause 169 states that if a court at the time of conviction or any other time certifies that a
person is subject to notification requirements then the certification is conclusive evidence the
person is required to notify.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 163 to 169 inclusive and Schedule 4 stand part of
the Bill.

________________________________________________________________________
526 C137

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL, TUESDAY, 30th JUNE 2020
The President: Mr Mercer.

1225

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clauses 163 to 169 and Schedule 4. Those in favour, say aye; against, no.
The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 170, please.

1230

1235

1240

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 170 outlines the people from whom the Chief Constable may receive information in
connection with the notification requirements and the people he may provide information to for
the purposes of the prevention, detection, investigation or prosecution of offences. These also
include verifying information given to others in connection with functions relating to social
security, child support, employment or training and relating to passports, driving licences or
vehicle registration.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 170 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1245

1250

1255

1260

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
On our list of amendments there is a very minor amendment to subclause 170(1)(a) which
picks up a cross-reference to the relevant notification clauses by including a reference to
clause 157.
Mr President, with your permission I would also like to move a further very minor
amendment to clause 170 which is not on our Order Paper, which is something I noticed this
morning and in discussion with the drafter and the mover has been acknowledged to be
something that we should also address in the Bill.
The amendment is, if I can direct hon. colleagues on Council to page 170 of the Bill, line 38,
which is subclause 170(7) which currently states ‘In this section and section 171 – ’. And then at
the top of page 171 we see the definition of ‘data protection legislation’. In fact there is no
reference to data protection legislation in section 171, the correct reference there should be to
section 172.
So, with your permission, Mr President, I would also like to move that minor amendment to
clause 170 as well as the amendment numbered 19 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 170
19. Page 170, line 11, for ‘155 or 156’ substitute «155, 156 or 157».
Amendment to clause 170
Page 170, line 38, for ‘section 171’ substitute «section 172».
The President: And indeed amendments can, in Council, be moved from the floor on the
spot. Well spotted.
Mr Henderson.

1265

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane. I beg to second.
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The President: Miss August-Hanson.

1270

Miss August-Hanson: I would just like to add if I may, Mr President, that Mrs Poole-Wilson
has done an extraordinary job in scrutiny work, as always, and has added some very detailed
thought into the Bill and into making very sensible amendments to it.
Although it was identified as she says this morning, Mrs Poole-Wilson has consulted with
myself, with the drafter and with the policy and legislation manager. As you say, very well
spotted.

1275

1280

1285

The President: Thank you.
I put, then, the amendments moved by Mrs Poole-Wilson. Those in favour, say aye; against,
no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Clause 170 as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have
it.
Clause 171.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 171 adds to clause 170 that the Governor or a Department may supply information to
the Chief Constable; and I beg to move that that clause do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1290

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clause 171. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 172.

1295

1300

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
This clause empowers the Department to make regulations around the release or transfer of
offenders into the custody of another person, and the information disclosure responsibilities
around this.
I do beg to move that this clause do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1305

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

1310

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
The amendment numbered 20 standing in my name is to achieve consistency and ensure a
consistent reference to data protection legislation. It replaces the reference currently in the Bill
which is to the Data Protection Act 2018 with use of the defined term for ‘data protection
legislation’ which appears at the top of page 171.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 172
20. Page 172, line 25, for ‘Data Protection Act 2018’substitute «data protection legislation».
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The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane. I beg to second, sir.

1320

1325

1330

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 172, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 173.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, this clause concerns the application of the notification
periods mentioned earlier in clause 153 and how they will apply where an offence was
committed outside of the Island.
So I beg to move that that clause do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1335

1340

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
This amendment numbered 21 is a corrective amendment replacing the words ‘relevant date’
with ‘notification period’ which is the heading used in column two of the table in clause 153 to
which this clause refers.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment numbered 21 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 173
21. Page 173, line 21, for ‘relevant date’ substitute «notification period».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane. I beg to second, sir.

1345

1350

1355

1360

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 173 as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have
it.
Clause 174 to 180 inclusive. Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 174 makes provision where the conviction is in a country which is not part of the
Council of Europe.
Clause 175 outlines the powers of entry and search which can be exercised by the Police in
respect of the notification requirements.
Clauses 176 to 180 describe the process by which notification orders and interim notification
orders may be made. These are where an off-Island offender may arrive on Island or intends to
come to the Island.
Clause 177 talks to the effect of these orders. Clause 178 speaks to the offences which apply.
Clause 179 makes provision for interim orders. Clause 180 deals with to which court an
appeal may be lodged.
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Mr President, I beg to move that these clauses do stand part of the Bill.
1365

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1370

1375

1380

1385

1390

1395

1400

1405

1410

The President: I put clauses 174 to 180. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have
it. The ayes have it.
Clauses 181 to 195.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President. I hope my colleagues bear with me as I try to
get through some of these acronyms.
Mr President, clauses 181 to 195 make provision for the protection of the public through
Sexual Harm Prevention Orders (SHPOs), which are made by the court when it deals with a
defendant; and Sexual Risk Orders (SROs), which are made by a court on the application of the
Chief Constable in order to protect the public, or particular members of the public, from harm
from the defendant.
Clause 181 sets out the application and grounds on which a court may make an SHPO.
Essentially, a court must be satisfied an SHPO is necessary to protect the public from sexual
harm by the defendant; or protecting children or vulnerable adults generally, or any particular
children or vulnerable adults, from sexual harm from the defendant outside the Island.
Subsections (5) and (6) provide that the Chief Constable may also apply to a court of summary
jurisdiction for such an order.
Clause 182 is supplemental and provides interpretation of certain terms.
Clause 183 sets out the effect of such an SHPO.
Clause 184 is important because it enables SHPOs to be varied or discharged by a court prior
to a person’s release from custody, as circumstances may have changed since the court made
the original SHPO. Subsection (2) provides that the persons who may make the application are
the defendant, the Chief Constable, or a probation officer.
Clause 185 empowers a prohibition to be imposed on travel off Island for a fixed period of
not more than five years.
In clause 186 where a court made an SHPO in respect of a person not sentenced to custody
that person, the Chief Constable or a probation officer may apply for the SHPO to be varied,
renewed or discharged.
Clause 187 provides for interim SHPOs.
Clause 188 means that a person remains subject to notification requirements as long as the
SHPO has effect. If the person ceased to be subject to notification requirements, or was not
subject to notification requirements, then they become subject to notification requirements the
moment the SHPO is made.
Clause 189 provides for appeals in respect of SHPOs and interim SHPOs.
Clause 190 makes it an offence to breach an SHPO or an interim SHPO.
Clause 191 is about guidance. Clause 192 is supplementary.
Clause 193 provides for SROs to be applied for by the Chief Constable to a court of summary
jurisdiction. The condition of the application is that it appears to the Chief Constable that the
person has done an act of a sexual nature as a result of which there is reasonable cause to
believe it is necessary to make an SRO. This may be done in respect of a resident of the Island, or
of someone the Chief Constable believes is in the Island, or is intending to come to the Island.
The purposes of the SRO are similar to the SHPO, namely to protect the public, children or
vulnerable adults from harm from the defendant.
The clause was amended in the Keys to provide that the court must be presided over by the
High Bailiff or the Deputy High Bailiff. Although the equivalent provision in the current sexual
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1420

offences law does not specify the make-up of the court, the Keys when reviewing this Bill felt
that if ever the Chief Constable did want to use this, the matter should be determined by a court
presided over by a stipendiary judiciary. I hope I have said that right.
Clause 194 provides interpretation of ‘child’, ‘harm’ and ‘public’.
Clause 195 prohibits off-Island travel in a similar manner to SHPOs.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 181 to 195 inclusive stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1425

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clauses 181 to 195. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have
it. The ayes have it.
Clause 196.

1430

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 196 provides for variations, renewals and
discharges of SROs; and I beg to move that they stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
1435

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
1440

1445

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
The amendment numbered 22 standing in my name picks up on the point already outlined by
the mover of the amendment that was made in another place to clause 193. Namely, that when
applying to a court of summary jurisdiction for an SRO the court must be one held by the High
Bailiff or Deputy High Bailiff. This amendment picks up the same issue in clause 196 relating to
variations, renewals and discharges of SROs by including express reference to the court being
one held by the High Bailiff or Deputy High Bailiff in the definition of Adult Summary Court.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment numbered 22 standing in my name:
Amendment to clause 196
22. Page 193, line 37, after ‘jurisdiction’ insert « (being a court held by a High Bailiff or Deputy
High Bailiff)».
The President: Mr Henderson.

1450

Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

1455

1460

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 196, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 197.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
This clause provides for interim SROs; and I beg to move that clause 197 stand part of the Bill.
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The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
1465

1470

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
Again, the amendment numbered 23 in my name picks up the same point, this time in
relation to interim sexual risk orders that the court must be one held by the High Bailiff or
Deputy High Bailiff which has been added to the definition of a court of summary jurisdiction.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment numbered 23, standing in my name.
Amendment to clause 197
23. Page 194, line 10, after ‘jurisdiction’ insert «(which, for the purposes of this section must
be a court held by a High Bailiff or Deputy High Bailiff)».
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
I beg to second, sir, and reserve my remarks.

1475

1480

1485

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 197, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 198.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
This clause imposes notification requirements on a person in respect of whom a court has
made an SRO, or an interim SRO. Subsection (4) applies the method of notification set out in
clause 159, as we have recently amended it; and the offences relating to notification set out in
clause 162 to SROs and interim SROs.
Mr President, I beg to move that this clause stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1490

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
1495

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to move the amendments numbered 24 and 25 in my name, which are technical
amendments removing a cross-reference that is no longer needed.
Amendments to clause 198
24. Page 195, line 9, for ‘; and’ substitute a full stop.
25. Page 195, line 10, omit paragraph (c).
The President: Mr Henderson.
1500

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
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I beg to second, sir, and reserve my remarks.

1505

1510

1515

1520

1525

The President: I put the amendments. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 198, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clauses 199 to 207, inclusive.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, these clauses continue the provisions relating to
notification, Sexual Harm and Sexual Risk Orders.
Clause 199 provides for appeals to the Staff of Government Division.
Clause 200 makes it an offence to breach an SRO or an interim SRO.
Clause 201 deals with the effect of a conviction for a breach, which is to remain subject to
notification requirements.
Clause 202 provides for guidance in respect of SROs and interim SROs. Clause 203 deals with
supplementary matters.
Clause 204 provides power for the Department to amend Schedules 3 and 4 by order.
Clause 205 applies the provisions of this Part relating to notification requirements, SHPOs
and SROs to young offenders.
Clause 206 deals with ‘Offences with thresholds’.
Clause 207 disapplies time limits for complaints and this is clearly important for justice given
the sensitive nature of sexual offences. It may be some time before a victim feels able to come
forward in any given situation.
Mr President, I beg to move that these clauses do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1530

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clauses 199 to 207. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have
it. The ayes have it.
Clause 208.

1535

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, this clause provides general interpretation for Part 10.
I beg to move it stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
1540

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
1545

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I refer to the amendment numbered 26 standing in my name which is a technical amendment
to correct a cross-reference in the definition of ‘interim notification order’.
Mr President, I beg to move the amendment standing in my name.
Amendment to clause 208
26. Page 200, line 31, for ‘179(3)’ substitute «179(2)».
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The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane. I beg to second, sir.

1555

1560

1565

The President: I put the amendment. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 208, as amended. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clauses 209 and 210.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
These clauses deal with conditional discharges and probation orders, and with interpretation,
as it applies to mentally disordered offenders in relation to Part 10.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 209 and 210 do stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1570

1575

1580

The President: I put clauses 209 and 210. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have
it. The ayes have it.
Clauses 211 to 225 inclusive.
Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clauses 211 to 225 form Part 11 of the Bill and address
the very important matter of pardons and disregards for certain historical sexual offences. The
Chief Minister gave an apology on behalf of the Manx Government during the Third Reading of
this Bill in the House of Keys for misguided and wrongful laws that reflected a different time, a
different place – an Island of the past.
It is to be hoped that the Chief Minister’s apology, together with the new legislation before
us, can at least start to heal some of the pain caused by past attitudes and decisions.
Turning to the clauses: clause 211 provides interpretation.
Clause 212 puts the provisions within Part 11 of the Bill in context, and I quote:
The purpose of this Part is to acknowledge the wrongfulness and discriminatory effect of past convictions for
certain historical sexual offences by —
(a) pardoning persons who have been convicted of those offences; and
(b) providing for a process for convictions for those offences to be disregarded.

1585

Clause 213 defines historic sexual offences.
Clause 214 pardons people convicted of certain historic sexual offences in these terms, again
I quote:
A person who has been convicted of a historical sexual offence is pardoned for the offence if the conduct
constituting the offence, if occurring in the same circumstances, would not be an offence on the day on which this
section comes into operation.

1590

Clause 215 is supplementary.
Clauses 216 to 219 are about the procedure for applying for past cautions or convictions to
be disregarded, and make provision for appeals.
Clause 220 describes the effect of a disregard.
Clause 221 is about the removal of disregarded convictions from official records.
Clause 222 empowers the Department to appoint people to advise or assist it in making
determinations on applications for disregards.
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Clause 223 says nothing in this Part affects the prerogative of mercy.
Clause 224 applies this Part in relation to any conduct constituting a historical sexual offence
in respect of which an alternative to prosecution has been given, as it applies to conduct in
respect of which a person is convicted.
Clause 225 empowers the Department to make such regulations as may be necessary to give
full effect to the pardoning and disregard of historic sexual offences.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 211 to 225 stand part of the Bill.

1600

The President: Mr Mercer.
Mr Mercer: Thank you Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
1605

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

1610

1615

1620

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I do welcome this part of the Bill and am very happy to support the clauses that have just
been moved.
My reason for intervening at this point is to ask the mover a question which I have raised, but
I think it is important and may be helpful to have the answer put on the record. That is in
relation to clause 219 subsection (2) which provides that an applicant may, with the permission
of the Department, appeal against the Department’s decision to the High Bailiff.
I raised the question because at first glance it looked slightly odd for the Department whose
decision is being appealed to be the arbiter of granting permission to take that appeal forward. I
thought it would be helpful to understand the rationale behind that provision but also to have
on the record the circumstances in which the Department would recognise it should agree to an
appeal.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Thank you. Miss August-Hanson.

1635

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I thank the Hon. Member for engaging with the Department on this matter.
Clause 219 is based on the equivalent in the Scottish Act in section 8. In Scotland it is the
Sheriff that gives leave for a person to appeal to the Sheriff. In the DHA effectively they perform
functions that might fall under a Justice Minister-type role. One of those in particular is to have
regard for the effect of legislation passed by the legislature on the functioning of the courts and
the administrative burden that might be placed on them.
The Department has not asked the courts specifically about this but has required a
reasonable insight as to their understanding in their mind of how it might work. Essentially, the
Department wants to keep the process of pardons and disregards and the method by which
things are done as administratively straightforward and as swift and fleet of foot as possible.
I hope that this satisfies. I am getting a nod of agreement. Thank you, Mr President.

1640

The President: Thank you, Hon. Member.
I put clauses to 211 to 225 inclusive. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Clause 226.

1625

1630

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, clause 226 amends section 4 of the Organised and
International Crime Act 2010 with provisions designed to empower a court to order the
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1650

forfeiture of a land vehicle, ship or aircraft used, or intended to be used, in connection with the
trafficking of persons.
Whilst the Organised and International Crime Act has wider application, it is sadly the case
that a lot of people are trafficked by criminals for sexual purposes and also sexual slavery. It is
appropriate, therefore, to use this Bill to supplement our laws so that anything used to facilitate
this abusive line of business may be forfeit.
Mr President, I beg to move that it stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1655

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clause 226. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clause 227.

1660

1665

1670

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 227 introduces a number of provisions to augment the Prohibition of Female Genital
Mutilation Act 2010.
New section 6A imposes a duty on persons in regulated professions to notify the Police if, in
the course of their work, they discover an act of female genital mutilation appears to have been
carried out.
New section 6B introduces a Schedule into the Act after section 7 to provide for the making
of female genital mutilation protection orders; and new section 6C extends sections 4, 6 and 6A
to any act done outside the Island by a United Kingdom national or a Manx resident.
Mr President, I am sure we would all agree it is right to bring our law in this matter up to date
and more in line with other jurisdictions.
I beg to move that clause 227 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1675

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

1680

1685

1690

1695

The President: I put clause 227. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The
ayes have it.
Clauses 228 to 234 and Schedules 5 and 6.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
The remaining clauses 228 to 234 and Schedules 5 and 6 deal with general and closing
provisions.
Clause 228 applies to courts of the armed services.
Clause 229 empowers the Department to apply UK sentencing guidelines to the Island by
order, and it is proposed initially to apply guidelines in connection with offences against
children.
Clause 230 sets out the respective Tynwald procedures for orders and regulations made
under this Act.
Clause 231 introduces Schedule 5, which makes consequential and minor amendments.
Clause 232 introduces Schedule 6 that sets out the repeals.
Clause 233 makes provision to take account of the transition from the current law relating to
sexual offences, indecent and obscene publications, and the law introduced by this Bill.
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Clause 234 provides that, subject to section 228 ‘Service courts’, this Act extends to the
Island only and that unless otherwise provided any amendment, repeal or revocation made by
this Act has the same extent as the provision to which it relates.
Mr President, I beg to move that clauses 228 to 234 and Schedules 5 and 6 stand part of the
Bill.
The President: Mr Mercer.

1705

1710

Mr Mercer: Thank you, Mr President.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.
The President: I put clauses 228 to 234 and Schedules 5 and 6. Those in favour, say aye;
against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.
Thank you very much. That concludes the clauses stage and I thank the mover and
congratulate her for the manner in which she moved the clauses, and for those who also moved
amendments. Also the officer, Mr Bateman (Several Members: Hear, hear.) for his assistance.
So that remains for Third Reading.

3. Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Second Reading approved
Mrs Lord-Brennan to move:
That the Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2020 be read a second time.
The President: We move now to Item 3, which is the Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment)
Bill for Second Reading. The mover this morning will be the learned Attorney.
1715

1720

1725

1730

1735

The Attorney General: Thank you, Mr President and Hon. Members.
At the behest of the Council of Ministers, I am to take over the handling of this Bill through
the remaining stage of its consideration by Council.
I wish to firstly thank Hon. Members for the support that they have given this Bill during its
First Reading and, as I shall mention, the detailed consideration of its provisions which Members
have given the Bill and its provisions since then.
If I may summarise the key purposes of the Bill, they are fivefold: first, to improve the way in
which unsafe and irresponsible driving is dealt with, whether it be drug driving, using a motor
vehicle for the purposes of crime, or riding a vehicle on footways – that is to say, pavements;
second, to lessen the load on the courts by providing for better enforcement of motoring fines,
compensation, or vehicle duty through the seizure of motor vehicles; third, to improve the law
relating to the construction and use of vehicles, for example their use by disabled persons;
fourth, to make extensive and material amendments to improve the law on driving licences and
disqualification; and finally, to facilitate the detection of crime, for example by providing, on the
one hand, for the use of the Motor Insurers’ Database, and by extending, on the other hand, the
information-gathering powers of both the Police and the authorised vehicle examiners of the
Department of Infrastructure.
The Bill also contains many lesser but equally important amendments and updates to road
traffic law.
At the close of the debate on the First Reading, Hon. Members raised a number of interesting
points. To the extent that those were not dealt with then, I would like, if I may, to confirm the
remarks that were made.

________________________________________________________________________
537 C137

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL, TUESDAY, 30th JUNE 2020

1740

1745

1750

1755

1760

1765

1770

1775

1780

1785

Mr Mercer raised the Road Traffic Strategy and asked that as many of the issues identified
there as possible should be incorporated within this Bill to ensure the findings can be
progressed. I can confirm that the following items from the Road Safety Action Plan have been
included in this Bill: the legislation for roadside drug testing; the ability to define a period of
training for new drivers before they take their driving test; a reduction in the number of penalty
points leading to disqualification from 12 to 6 points for newly qualified drivers; greater powers
in relation to reviewing vehicle condition; medical fitness to drive; the potential to introduce
professional driver cards; and Automatic Number Plate Recognition. The inclusion of all these
items in the Bill will, I am sure, reassure Mr Mercer.
Mrs Poole-Wilson raised at First Reading several points. Firstly, regarding the provision to
repeal paragraph 5 of Schedule 23 of the Equality Act 2017, both the Equality Act 2017 and the
Road Transport, Licensing and Registration (Amendment) Act 2018 would enable similar
provisions to be inserted as section 37 of the Road Transport Act, if the relevant Appointed Day
Orders were made. Both of these insertions relate to the obligation to transport disabled people
with or without a wheelchair or assistance dog. The Equality Act’s provisions could only apply to
the operators and drivers of private-hire vehicles, whereas the provisions contained within the
Road Transport, Licensing and Registration (Amendment) Act could apply to the drivers and
operators of public passenger vehicles. Neither of the relevant provisions has been brought in by
an Appointed Day Order.
As this change does not reflect any change in policy direction, there has been no involvement
from either the Equality Adviser or the Equality Champion. However, both have been advised
and will be consulted in the work to prepare the required regulations, which will be brought
forward by the Department of Infrastructure.
Secondly, Mrs Poole-Wilson raised a concern regarding clause 33, which provides for the
construction and equipment of vehicles for use, and the conditions under which they may be
used by a disabled person. I can confirm that there is a significant maximum fine of Level 4 – that
is £5,000 – for non-compliance with regulations provided under these provisions.
Finally, with regard to clause 34, which includes the provision that an eyesight test is required
to renew a driving licence should the applicant be aged 75 years or older, this provision is
included on a road safety basis. It is accepted that good eyesight, with or without corrective
glasses or contact lenses, is essential in order to drive safely. In comparison, the United Kingdom
has set its requirements in this area at age 70, but is currently reviewing this with the aim of
increasing to age 75.
An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken on the Bill and this point was highlighted.
Information on the impact of age on eyesight was reviewed and discussions were held with
people who could be impacted by this item. Both the review and discussions concluded that eye
health and eyesight could be significantly impaired in the over-75s and that the age defined in
the Bill was appropriate and proportionate to the risk involved.
Having mentioned the remarks and responses made at First Reading, it remains for me to say
that this Bill aims to make a material contribution to road traffic law. As such I commend it to
Council.
That being said, there has been appropriately intense interest shown in this Bill over the past
few days by Hon. Members of Council, and a number of amendments have been proposed for
the Bill. I mention with gratitude in particular the assistance afforded to me by
Mrs Lord-Brennan, who introduced the Bill at its First Reading stage, and the detailed
consideration of the Hon. Members of Council, Mr Mercer, Mrs Poole-Wilson and Mrs Maska. I
thank them on behalf of the Department.
Rather than rush the Bill into the clauses stage later today I will not move clauses, so as to
provide Hon. Members of Council and officers in the Department a further opportunity over the
summer recess fully to assess the Bill and any proposed amendments. (Miss August-Hanson:
Hear, hear.) In addition, Hon. Members, the Department will organise a briefing session before
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the summer recess to discuss the Bill and the amendments whilst they are still fresh and in the
forefront of all our minds.
Mr President, I beg to move that the Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2020 be now
read a second time.
The President: Mr Henderson.

1795

Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir, and welcome the Attorney General’s overview of the
situation currently. Having had to suffer the initial progress of this Bill a couple of years ago, I
think it is only right and proper that it receives further attention and examination of the
amendments.
1800

The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.

1805

1810

1815

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
I too welcome the learned the Attorney’s remarks at Second Reading. I particularly welcome
the recognition that it is appropriate not to move clauses today and give detailed consideration
to amendments to ensure that the end product does work and does achieve all that it is
intended to achieve.
In particular, I do welcome the engagement from the Department’s officers to look closely at
the provisions to create accessibility regulations for disabled people and to ensure that these are
sufficiently comprehensive and that appropriate offences are created, but also that there is
appropriate ability to enforce these.
I also recognise that there is some duplication, but I welcome working with the Department
of Infrastructure officers to look at the best possible way to provide comprehensive protection
for disabled people when we look at different modes of transport on the Island.
I also recognise the points made by the learned Attorney as regards an age for compulsory
eyesight tests. I thank the Department for forwarding to me both the Equality Impact
Assessment that they have conducted and also some background reports and research that they
also looked at, which were very welcome.
Thank you, Mr President.

1820

The President: Miss August-Hanson.

1825

1830

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I will be very brief with this one. I would just like to thank Mr Attorney General for his speech.
I would also like to say that I greatly appreciate a little bit more time being given to having a little
bit more consideration on this one, because I do not think anyone wants a repeat performance
of what has happened previously, in relation to a Bill such as this happening again.
I would like to thank Mrs Lord-Brennan, though, for her engaging thus far with Members. The
engagement has been very good and very comprehensive and she has been extraordinarily
helpful.
So thank you, Mr President.
The President: Thank you. Mrs Maska.

1835

1840

Mrs Maska: Thank you, Mr President, and I too will be brief.
I thank the learned Attorney for his presentation of the Second Reading today, which also
explains the aims of the Bill, but also I welcome the breathing space that we will have in the
summer recess to follow up on some of the queries that have been raised by my
hon. colleagues – all of them. I think that is a really refreshing approach to addressing this
important legislation.
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I would also like to thank my colleague, Mrs Lord-Brennan for all the hard work (Interjection
by Mrs Lord-Brennan) she has done, because it has been quite a long pathway that she has had
to tread. Also I would like to thank the officers involved. They too have worked very hard.
So I look forward to a further briefing and this returning to this Hon. Chamber in the autumn.
Thank you, Mr President.
The President: Mr Attorney to reply.

1850

The Attorney General: Mr President, I hope I heard a seconder. I do not know whether we
need one?
The President and other Members: Mr Henderson seconded.

1855

1860

The Attorney General: I am very grateful, Mr Henderson, for seconding the motion.
I would just like to say very briefly a word of thanks to those Members who have spoken in
support. I look forward to working with you to hopefully bring this Bill to a successful conclusion.
Thank you, Mr President.
Several Members: Hear, hear.
The President: I invite Mr Attorney under Standing Order 4.3(5) to move the deferral of
clauses to a later sitting. (Interjection by the Clerk)
I put to Council that the Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2020 be read a second
time. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.

Road Traffic Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Clauses stage deferred
The President: And Mr Attorney to move deferral of clauses, under Standing Orders.
1865

The Attorney General: I am very grateful, Mr President, and I so move.
Mr Henderson: Seconded.
1870

The President: Seconded. Is that agreed? (Members: Agreed.)
Thank you.

4. Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
First Reading approved
Miss August-Hanson to move:
That the Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 be read a first time.
The President: We turn now to the Licensing (Amendment) Bill, which I confirm has been
passed by the Keys in amended form. I invite Miss August-Hanson –
[Interruption from an electronic device.]
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The Clerk: I apologise, Mr President, for the interruption. That is our friend, Ms Graves, in
Jersey, seeking to reconnect. (Interjections)
The President: Thank you. Miss August-Hanson.

1880

1885

1890

1895

1900

1905

1910

1915

1920

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I am aware that it has been often said of late that these are unprecedented times in which
the Island and the world have found themselves. As we all appreciate, recent times have been
truly extraordinary and have required that decisions be made and things be done in a manner
that very few may have imagined ever would have been the case.
The emergency we have faced and the measures under it have undoubtedly saved lives.
However, whilst these actions were taken in good faith for a noble end, they have had additional
consequences in terms of the economy, people’s livelihoods and their wider social lives.
I apologise, Mr President, that this Bill – albeit that it is brief – comes with some urgency,
having received consideration in another place today. It is unfortunate that this is the case.
However, its content is such that I am sure my hon. colleagues will appreciate its intrinsic value
to our licensed hospitality premises.
In preparing to come out of the emergency, it has become apparent that some matters
cannot be resolved without new and immediate primary law. One such area is the requirement
placed on licensees and those within the hospitality industry to renew their licences every three
years during the triennial sessions of the Licensing Court. This is an extensive process involving
the industry, the Police and the courts, along with payment of a substantial licence fee.
The licences themselves are all due for renewal before the end of March 2021. However, the
background process of this administration that is performed by licensees must normally start the
previous September – hence the urgency.
Unfortunately, the requirement to renew the licences cannot be deferred without a change
to the Licensing Act 1995.
The significance of this Bill goes beyond the mere material and financial measures that it
provides for, and speaks to the notion that while the Island’s economy as a whole is important
to us, the Department also recognises that there is a more intrinsic value to many licensed
premises. They represent a place that we gather with family and friends – our favourite
restaurants and local pubs. They are the beating heart of the Island’s social life and many have
been dormant for months during the recent emergency.
As these premises reopen and their lifeblood – the people of the Island – can return to them,
the life we knew before coronavirus, COVID-19, has resumed and it is once again a joy to
reconnect in these social gathering spaces. We have missed being amongst family and friends,
and we wish to see all these premises continue to operate into the future.
It is true that the recent months have been a difficult time for all areas of our community and
we have, as an Island, been strong and taken on board the important message that we should
Stay Home and Stay Safe. This was undoubtedly the best way that we could protect our loved
ones, ourselves, our health and front-line services, and our beautiful Island life. We are grateful
that those months of social distancing are past and we have emerged – literally in recent
weeks – into the sunlight on our precious gem in the Irish Sea, but these closures have taken
their toll.
Mr President, I would like to move the Bill standing in my name for the First Reading.
The President: Mrs Lord-Brennan.
Mrs Lord-Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
I welcome this Bill. It has obviously been prepared swiftly but with, in my view, proper
consideration behind the scenes as to the aspects that it is seeking to address.
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Hon. Members will also see that we have consideration of a Keys’ amendment before us. If it
is of help, it is certainly an amendment that I was in draft form able to see yesterday evening: I
believe it is in order. I believe that the approach in the Bill is balanced and appropriate to give a
bit of breathing space from the bureaucratic and financial demands that will be facing this
industry, in particular.
Also it might be of interest to Hon. Members to note that there is a similar Bill that was
recently passed in the UK for similar reasons to allow for flexibility on bars and restaurants
operating – pavement cafés effectively. We have got a slightly different approach here to what
the UK has done, but they have also advanced this and it was something that was progressed
quite quickly.
So I am happy to second the Bill, Mr President.
The President: Thank you.
Now, we are all noting that our green copy of the Bill should now have attached to clause 3
the amendment, to insert a new Part 4A after line 17. That was the amendment passed by the
House of Keys this morning. Just bearing that in mind that that amended Bill is the one that is
before us:
Amendment to clause 3
Page 3, after line 17 insert—
‘(3) After Part 4 (registered clubs) there is inserted the following Part —
“PART 4A – TEMPORARY EXTENSIONS OF LICENCES AND REGISTRATIONS
55A Interpretation of this Part
In this Part —
“publicly maintained highway” means a highway that is maintained at public expense under
the Highways Act 1986;
“relevant portion” means that part of a publicly maintained highway which—
(a) is covered by a section 78 licence; and
(b) would form the curtilage of the on-licensed or, as the case may be, club premises if that
curtilage extended to include that part of the highway;
“temporary extension period” means the period beginning with the date this Part comes into
operation and ending with 30 September 2020 or such later date as may be prescribed in
regulations;
“section 78 licence” means a licence granted under section 78 of the Highways Act 1986
(licences to provide refreshments, and to place kiosks and necessary furniture, on a public
highway).
55B On-license and registered club premises: treating provision
(1) This Part applies where on-licensed or club premises do not include the relevant portion
but abut or are situated within 50 metres of that portion.
(2) On-licensed premises referred to in subsection (1) shall be treated as including the
relevant portion and the on-licence in respect of those premises shall be deemed to have been
granted subject to the conditions referred to in subsection (4)
(3) Club premises referred to in subsection (1) shall be treated as including the relevant
portion and the registration order in respect of the club shall be deemed to include the
conditions referred to in subsection (4)
(4) The conditions referred to in subsection (2) and (3) are that the holder of the on-licence
or, as the case may be, the members of the registered club —
(a) must not permit dancing or singing to occur in the relevant portion that is treated as
forming part of the on-licensed or, as the case may be, club premises; and
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(b) must not permit music to be played or amplified in a way or at a volume that is likely to
cause a nuisance to the occupants of premises in close proximity to the relevant portion.
(5) The conditions of the section 78 licence covering the relevant portion continue to apply
to that portion during the operation of this Part.
55C Duration
(1) At the end of the temporary extension period, the relevant portion is no longer treated as
forming a part of the on-licensed or, as the case may be, club premises.
(2) Subsection (3) applies where before the end of the temporary extension period —
(a) the licensee of the on-licensed premises applies to the court for an on-licence in respect
of the relevant portion; and
(b) the court has not determined that application.
(3) Where this subsection applies, the relevant portion shall continue to be treated as
forming a part of the on-licensed premises until the court determines the application referred
to in subsection (2) (whether before or after the end of the temporary extension period).
(4) Subsection (5) applies where before the end of the temporary extension period —
(a) a registered club applies to the court for an order under section 48(3) (change of club
premises) in respect of the relevant portion; and
(b) the court has not determined that application.
(5) Where this subsection applies, the relevant portion shall continue to be treated as
forming part of the club premises until the court determines the application referred to in
subsection (4) (whether before or after the end of the temporary extension period).”
55D Regulations
The Department may, by regulations, specify that the temporary extension period is to end on
a date later than the 30 September 2020.
Tynwald procedure – affirmative. ””
The President: Miss August-Hanson to reply.

1950

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I appreciate the comments from Mrs Lord-Brennan and appreciate her seconding the Bill.
Obviously, we all understand exactly how important this might be. It has received some prelegislative scrutiny by myself and others within the Department. I know that Mrs Lord-Brennan
has been quite instrumental in terms of scrutiny and asking questions.
So with that, Mr President, I would like to move that Standing Orders also be suspended to
take the remaining stages at this sitting.

1955

The President: I will do that when I have put the First Reading to the vote, which I will do just
now.
The motion is that the Bill be read for the first time. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The
ayes have it. The ayes have it.

1945

Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Standing Orders suspended to take remaining stages
Miss August-Hanson to move:
That Standing Orders be suspended to take the remaining stages of this Bill at this sitting.
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The President: Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to move that Standing Orders be suspended to take the remaining stages.
1960

The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: I second, sir.
1965

The President: Is that agreed?
Members: Agreed.

Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Second Reading approved
Miss August-Hanson to move:
That the Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 be read a second time.
The President: Miss August-Hanson, Second Reading then.
1970

1975

Miss August-Hanson: Mr President, Hon. Members, my thanks again for agreeing to suspend
and allow for the consideration of this brief but very important Bill.
As I have set out already, a few changes to the Licensing Act 1995 will be of immediate value
to the licensed trade, and by extension to the social and economic life of our Island. Having
outlined those sentiments which I made within my opening speech, I would humbly ask that we
progress now, if both Mr President and my hon. colleagues are content, to the detailed
consideration, by begging that I might now move that the Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 be
read for a second time.
The President: Mr Henderson.

1980

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, sir.
I beg to second.

1985

The President: I put the motion that the Bill be read for a second time. Those in favour, say
aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.

Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Clauses considered
The President: We turn now to the clauses. Clause 1.

1990

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 1 gives the title of the Act as the Licensing (Amendment) Act, if the Bill is passed, and I
beg to move that it stand part of the Bill.
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The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, sir.
I beg to second.
1995

The President: I put clause 1. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 2.
2000

2005

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 2 is a standard commencement provision which allows the Department to bring the
Act into operation by Appointed Day Order and make appropriate consequential, incidental,
supplementary, transitional and transitory provision in connection with the Act coming into
operation.
I beg to move that clause 2 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Henderson.

2010

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, sir.
I beg to second.
The President: I put clause 2. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 3.

2015

2020

2025

2030

2035

2040

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
This clause provides that within section 4 of the Licensing Act 1995 a change is made by
which the triennial session of the Licensing Court that would have taken place by the end of
March 2021 is deferred, to instead take place by the end of March 2022.
The intended consequence of this change is that the triennial licence issued to any licensed
premises will not either expire or require to be renewed until 2022. The deferral of the triennial
session is also made with the explicit intention that in 2022, when that session takes place, only
the remaining proportion of the triennial fee will be levied. Therefore licensees will have
received a one-year reduction of the financial fees associated with the triennial, along with the
benefit of a postponement of the administrative and bureaucratic burden.
I would note at this point that the Department is grateful to their colleagues in the Treasury
for their concurrence with these legislative changes being made in this manner and also to their
colleagues in the General Registry who have accepted this pragmatic approach.
I would also note that there has of course been an amendment to this clause in another place
today. This amendment has the support of the Department, allowing that – weather permitting
of course – for a brief time, on-licensed premises which are able to obtain a ‘pavement licence’
from their local authority will have the opportunity to automatically utilise that licensed outside
space as if it were part of their on-licensed premises. These ‘pavement licences’, as they are
usually referred to, are granted under the Highways Act 1986 by local authorities. Ordinarily onlicensed premises would also need to apply to the Licensing Court should they obtain a
pavement licence and wish for that pavement area to become part of their on-licensed
premises. This automatic extension provision alleviates that need for a time, giving the
opportunity to use this space during the summer months, but does of course cease to have any
effect by way of a self-termination provision. Therefore unless an application is made to the
Licensing Court prior to this provision expiring, asking that the pavement area be included within
the on-licensed premises, then use of the pavement for alcohol sale or consumption would
cease to be permitted at the end of the summer.
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Mr President, I beg to move that clause 3 stand part of the Bill.
2045

The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
I beg to second and reserve my remarks.

2050

2055

2060

The President: I put clause 3. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 4.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
This clause provides for an amendment to section 7 of the Music and Dancing Act 1961 which
provides in a similar manner to that within clause 3, that the triennial for Music and Dancing
licences which co-exist within the triennial session are also deferred to take place by the end of
March 2022, with licences already in existence continuing until this time.
In this case, the number of specific licences and their nominal value is small. However, the
value of these licences is to the community where they provide for the operation of venues such
as our local parish halls and our village recreation centres. Once again these are places woven
into the fabric of Island life and richly deserving of the same financial and administrative benefits
for the value they will bring to local communities in the coming months.
With that, Mr President, I beg to move that clause 4 stand part of the Bill.

2065

The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, sir.
I beg to second.
2070

The President: I put clause 4. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 5.
2075

2080

2085

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
Clause 5 provides for any necessary changes which are needed to implement this
Amendment Act and might be discovered after the fact. In short, while the Department is of
course confident that the amendments within this Act will make appropriate adjustment and
modification as they would wish to see, it is nevertheless sensible to ensure that they are
equipped to deal with any unforeseen obstacles. Naturally, if this were to be the case, it would
only be correct that the Department would return to Tynwald for approval of any such
additional changes.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 5 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.

2090

The President: I put clause 5. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.
Clause 6.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
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2095

This clause is the termination clause which provides that the changes made regarding the
triennial cease to have effect on 1st April 2022, at which point the triennial session will have
concluded and the Act would have outlived its useful purpose and fall away.
Mr President, I beg to move that clause 6 stand part of the Bill.
The President: Mr Henderson.

2100

Mr Henderson: I beg to second, sir.
The President: I put clause 6. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes
have it.

Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 –
Third Reading approved
Miss August-Hanson to move:
That the Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 be read the third time.
2105

2110

2115

2120

The President: Third Reading, Miss August-Hanson.
Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to thank Members once again for allowing the opportunity for the Department to
bring this Bill before us today, with some urgency, for Hon. Members’ valued consideration.
The fact that this Bill was brought forward today in both another place and here, and it has
been taken through its stages, is a tremendous feat for all concerned and I would once again
thank Members with some level of sincerity for allowing this to be possible.
Reference has often been made to the unprecedented times in which we have lived for these
past few months. While I am sure that we are all grateful that our Island has weathered them,
the Department hopes that this legislation will form part of the positive future that we all aspire
to see, alongside those we love, in much happier times.
Many thanks again, Mr President, and in closing, I beg to move that the Licensing
(Amendment) Bill 2020 be read for the third time.
The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, sir.
I beg to second.

2125

The President: Hon. Members, I put the motion that the Licensing (Amendment) Bill 2020 do
pass. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it. The ayes have it.

Elections (Keys and Local Authorities) Bill 2020 –
Consideration of Keys’ amendment
The President: Hon. Members, there is one further matter we have to deal with, which is the
Elections (Keys and Local Authorities) Bill. Consideration of our amendments took place in
another place this morning. I invite Mr Henderson to tell us all about it.
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2130

2135

2140

Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
As you have quite rightly outlined, there was an amendment to the Elections Bill, which I
steered through our Chamber last week. I would just like to say that the small amendment that
was moved in the Keys this morning is positive, makes sense and from the legislative drafter’s
point of view, he quotes to me that the concern was posed – and this is the reason for the
amendment – that it may be unduly onerous to have to secure a spot in the Legislative
Programme in order to make amendments to the definition of ‘relevant interest’, which we can
see set forth in the paper circulated, which is what would be required if this amendment is not
made.
So the amendment is prudent and expeditious, basically, and good management so that we
do not have to go down a bureaucratic route, but more of an easy administrative route, sir.
So with that, I beg to move:
Keys’ amendment to Council’s amendment to clause 3
Page 23, in the first line of the inserted definition of ‘relevant interest’, between ‘“relevant
interest”’ and ‘means’ insert the following —
«, subject to the power of the Council of Ministers to amend this definition by order requiring
Tynwald approval,».
The President: Miss August-Hanson.

2145

Miss August-Hanson: Thank you, Mr President.
I would like to second, but I would also like a little more explanation from the mover as to
why it is being brought at this point in time and why the drafter has given such advice.
The President: Mr Henderson.

2150

Mr Henderson: I cannot answer the question with regard to why it would be brought at this
time. That would be up to the mover of the said amendment, who is Ms Edge in the House of
Keys, although she has flagged up a very relevant point. It is pragmatic and as the drafter points
out, it makes perfect sense to have this in. It does not alter the Bill materially; it complements it,
sir.

2155

The President: Mrs Lord-Brennan.

2160

2165

Mrs Lord Brennan: Thank you, Mr President.
I might be able to assist. It was identified in the past couple of days that should there be a
change to the members’ rules, then it would be desirable for that to be reflected in the
definition of ‘relevant interest’ on the statute. So my understanding is that that is exactly what it
should be used for, rather than opening out more broadly generally what is going to be included
in ‘relevant interest’. I think it is quite clear by this point that there should be some continuation
of process in this and absolute clarity between what would be happening pre-candidacy, preelection and then once somebody becomes a Tynwald Member.
So my understanding is that it is to account for the need to address any changes to the
members’ rules regarding interests, to use regulations to adapt the primary legislation –
Mr Henderson: Rather than primary.

2170

Mrs Lord-Brennan: – rather than … So that is how it has been put across to me.
I am happy to support it. I see that it has gone through the House of Keys, so I hope that
background is helpful.
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The President: Mrs Poole-Wilson.
2175

Mrs Poole-Wilson: Thank you, Mr President.
That makes a great deal of sense and I am happy to support the amendment, particularly
because if any regulations or an order are brought forward, they do require Tynwald approval.
Thank you, Mr President.
2180

The President: Mr Henderson.
Mr Henderson: Gura mie eu, Eaghtyrane.
I am grateful for Members’ support and I beg to move, sir.
2185

2190

The President: I put the motion that the Council do agree to the Keys’ amendment to the
Elections (Keys and Local Authorities) Bill. Those in favour, say aye; against, no. The ayes have it.
The ayes have it.
Hon. Members, that concludes our Order Paper this morning. I did not think I would be
saying ‘this morning’, but we are! This marks the end of the last sitting of Council this session.

Procedural –
Thanks to Members and staff

2195

2200

2205

The President: Hon. Members, in what has been an extraordinary parliamentary year, I
would like to thank Members for their hard work in this Branch and in particular for the sharpeyed and thorough manner in which they have approached scrutiny of the legislation.
I would also mention the work of the Select Committee on Legislation for its thoughtful
approach into the better staging of the legislation and how that is best tackled, particularly with
regard to taking of evidence, which has been a feature of the last session. So the result is, if I
may humbly say, you have done a good job and the result has been good legislation – certainly
better legislation.
With that I would also like to thank the Clerk (Members: Hear, hear.) for the considerable
work that he has done keeping us all on the right road and the machinery moving; and also to
our Messengers and the Hansard staff also. (Members: Hear, hear.)
Council will now stand adjourned to the next sitting, which will take place on 6th July on
Tynwald Day at St John’s. I would just make the reminder that on arriving at St John’s you should
go straight to Tynwald Hill and not the Robing Room and make sure that, regarding the notes
that have been circulated, you are aware of what is in them.
Thank you, Hon. Members.
Members: Thank you, Mr President.
The Council adjourned at 1.01 p.m.
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